RECEIVED

OCT 08 2012

K&L Gates LLP

No. 305538-III and No. 305929-III and No. 308375-III



COURT OF APPEALS, STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION III

SENTINELC3, INC., a Washington Corporation,

Respondent,

v.

CHRIS J. HUNT, an individual and the marital community, if any, comprised of CHRIS J. HUNT and CARMEN HUNT; MICHAEL BLOOD, an individual and the marital community, if any, comprised of MICHAEL BLOOD and JANAE BLOOD,

Appellants.

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS HUNT

Vicki L. Mitchell, WSBA # 31259 Paine Hamblen LLP 717 West Sprague Avenue, Suite 1200 Spokane, WA 9920-3505 (509) 455-6000

Attorneys for Appellants Chris & Carmen Hunt

RECEIVED

OCT 08 2012

K&L Gates LLP

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Pursuant to RAP 10.3(a)(3), Appellants Chris and Carmen Hunt assign error to the following actions by the trial court:

- The trial court committed error in granting summary judgment without making a substantive determination on the merits of "fair value" for the shares at issue and as required by RCW 23B.13.300.
- 2. The trial court committed error in granting summary judgment when, taking the evidence and inferences therefrom in the light most favorable to the Hunts as the non-moving party, the court failed to find the Hunts met their burden of production to establish disputed issues of material fact regarding "fair value" for their shares.
- The trial court committed error by granting summary judgment based on admission of the corporation's expert's report but

- exclusion of the dissenters' expert's report based on misapplication of the hearsay and authentication Rules of Evidence.
- The trial court committed error by awarding attorney fees against the Hunts contrary to controlling law and based on untenable grounds and reasons.
- 5. The trial court committed error by entering a Judgment that failed to establish the method used to calculate the amount of the award or that it was reasonable and equitable, as required by the fee award statute.

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- Whether "fair value" can be determined on the merits by the trial court, as required by the dissenters' rights statute RCW 23B.13.300, without the trial court impermissibly weighing the evidence and assessing the witnesses as prohibited by CR 56 and controlling law on summary judgment.
- Whether the Hunts met their burden of production on summary judgment and produced sufficient admissible evidence to create a disputed issue of material fact regarding "fair value" for their shares.

- Whether the valuation reports of the parties' experts were both properly authenticated and admissible under the Rules of Evidence.
- 4. Whether the record supported the trial court's award of attorney fees against the Hunts based on a determination that the Hunts acted arbitrarily, vexatiously, or not in good faith.
- 5. Whether the Judgment entered was calculated using a proper method and found by the trial court to be reasonable and equitable as required by the fee statute, RCW 23B.13.310.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Hunts seek review of the trial court's decision granting summary judgment and awarding attorney fees against them in this dissenters' rights action. Based on the following facts and evidence establishing a dispute over the "fair value" for their shares, summary judgment was inappropriate. Thus, the trial court's decisions should be reversed on appeal.

A. UNDERLYING STOCK VALUATION DISPUTE.

The Hunts have owned stock in Sentinel C3 and its predecessors since 2004 or before. CP 5. As of the end of 2009/beginning of 2010, the

Hunts owned 1,000,000 shares of Sentinel C3, which equated to approximately a 22.22% ownership in the corporation. CP 5, 560-561.

However, at that time Chris Hunt had a suspicion that the corporate officers and directors of Sentinel C3 were trying to find a way to push him out of the company. CP 561. Chris felt Sentinel C3's officers and directors were less responsive to his questions and concerns and that he was being treated with animosity. CP 561.

1. INITIAL OFFER – 4/19/2010.

Chris's suspicions were confirmed on or about April 19, 2010, when he received an offer from Sentinel C3 to purchase all of his shares. CP 560-61. The offer was for \$107,200.00 or \$0.1072 per share and was based on a Valuation Engagement Report [VER] that accompanied the offer CP 560-561.

The VER was prepared on April 9, 2010 by James W. Kukull, CPA, ASA and provided two estimated values for 22.22% of common stock of Sentinel C3 as of December 31, 2009. CP 231. At that time, the Hunts were the only shareholders who owned 22.22% of Sentinel C3's common stock. CP 561. Thus, while the VER did not name the Hunts therein, it did specify that it had been prepared solely and exclusively to

assist management for Sentinel C3 in acquisition of the 22.22% common stock interest from a current stockholder. CP 236.

The VER also specified that two valuations had been provided – one on the minority, nonmarketable basis and one on the control, marketable basis – at the request of Sentinel C3's management. CP 237. It further equated the fair market value on the control, marketable basis with "fair value" as defined for dissenting shareholders purposes. CP 237.

The VER gave a value of \$107,200.00 (\$0.1072 per share) on the minority, nonmarketable basis and a value of \$195,200.00 (0.1952 per share) on the control, marketable basis. CP 231. Thus, the offer the Hunts received on April 19, 2010 for their 1,000,000 shares was the lesser value of \$107,200.00 and was less than the VER appraisal of "fair value" as provided and intended by RCW Chapter 23B, the Dissenter's Rights statute. CP 237, 560-61.

The Hunts declined Sentinel C3's low-ball offer to buy their shares and relations did not improve.

2. <u>SPECIAL MEETING – 10/28/2010.</u>

Six months later, the Hunts received a notice from Sentinel C3 dated October 6, 2010, notifying shareholders of a special meeting to consider a proposed amendment to the Articles of Incorporation to allow a

reverse stock split. CP 14. The notice also gave shareholders notice of and provided documents, statutes, and sample forms for exercising dissenter's rights under RCW Chapter 23B.13. CP 14-24.

The special meeting was held on October 28, 2010 and Chris Hunt participated by telephone. CP 26. A vote was held on the proposed reverse stock split and purchase and it was passed; Chris Hunt and Michael Blood were the only shareholders who voted against the reverse stock split and purchase. CP 26.

After the vote, Chris learned for the first time that he and Mr. Blood would receive non-negotiable cash buyouts of their shares – but the other shareholders would receive promissory notes. CP 561. Chris asked why he and Mr. Blood were being treated differently, but did not receive a direct response. CP 561. The end result, though, was that the Hunts were being squeezed out of the company, as Chris had feared earlier that year. CP 561. After the October 28, 2010 special meeting and vote, the Hunts were no longer considered shareholders by Sentinel C3. CP 562.

The day of the special meeting or shortly thereafter, Sentinel C3 sent the Hunts notice of their dissenter's rights under RCW Chapter 23B.13. Pursuant to RCW 23B.13.230, the Hunts timely

surrendered their shares and made a demand for payment thereon on November 2, 2010. CP 34,47.

3. <u>INITIAL PAYMENT – 12/01/2010.</u>

Sentinel C3 timely responded on December 1, 2010 by providing the Hunts a payment for their shares of \$195,790.92. CP 561. The payment was based on the same VER by Mr. Kukull, prepared in April of 2010 and valuing the Hunts' 22.22% interest as of December 31, 2009 – almost a year before. CP 561. This time, however, Sentinel C3 based the payment on the higher value by Mr. Kukull of \$195,200.00, plus \$590.92 in interest from November 1, 2010. CP 561.

In addition to the payment draft and April 2010 VER by Mr. Kukull, Sentinel C3 also provided the Hunts with the statutorily required business records for Sentinel C3. CP 50. Based on these business records and the date and content of the VER, the Hunts believed that the \$195,790.92 payment was less than the fair value of their shares. CP 562-563. Specifically:

 Chris Hunt felt that certain factors in the VER were weighted more heavily than others in an effort to suppress or reduce the estimate for fair value. CP 562.

- In addition, the business records Sentinel C3 provided for 2010 showed that certain assumptions and information in the VER which was based on December 31, 2009 were incorrect and outdated. CP 562. Most significantly, the VER projected and assumed minimal to no growth for Sentinel C3 in 2010, but the financial records showed much more substantial growth of approximately 9%. CP 562.
- Certain language in the VER also led Chris to believe the Sentinel C3 corporate officers and directors were considering a merger or acquisition in the future, which would also impact future growth but was not further discussed or accounted for in the VER. CP 563. However, this led Chris to believe that some sort of merger or acquisition was being contemplated by Sentinel C3 and was imminent. CP 62, 350, 562.
- Finally, the VER itself stated that the appraisal was provided solely for the purposes of purchasing the 22.22% interest of a current shareholder and was of Sentinel C3 as an Idaho subchapter S corporation as of December 31, 2009. CP 236. However, by December 1, 2010 none of these factors were still accurate. The VER was being used by Sentinel C3 for the reverse stock split/purchase and resulting dissenters' action, the Idaho corporation had been merged into and now was a Washington corporation, and it was almost a full fiscal year later. CP 5, 28-30, 562.

Despite these changes, nothing was provided to the Hunts in December of 2010 to show that Mr. Kukull had validated his report and the estimates therein at any time since April 9, 2010 or that he still felt they were accurate. CP 562-563.

4. <u>DISSENTER'S ESTIMATE – 12/27/2010.</u>

After consideration of all of the foregoing information and consulting briefly with a CPA regarding fair value for their shares, the Hunts notified Sentinel C3 by letter dated December 27, 2010 that they were dissatisfied with payment and made a demand for payment based on their own estimate of fair value, pursuant to RCW 23B.13.280. CP 61, 348, 562-563.

Based on the limited information available to them at that time, the Hunts initially estimated that their shares were worth \$0.4267 per share. CP 61-62. In addition, the CPA they had consulted with had indicated that if a sale or merger was imminent – which they believed from Mr. Kukull's VER – then the value should be increased by an additional 20%. CP 62, 350, 563.

Thus, the Hunts' December 27, 2010 demand for payment estimated the shares were worth \$0.51204 per share (\$0.4267 plus 20%) or \$512,040.00 for their 1,000,000 shares. CP 62. They acknowledged partial

payment already of the \$195,790.92 and thus demanded payment of the remaining difference, or \$317,799.23. CP 62, 563.

Sentinel C3 responded by filing this lawsuit and seeking to have the court determine fair value, pursuant to RCW 23B.13.300.

B. PROCEDURAL HISTORY.

In addition to the facts detailed above, the procedural history and timeline is significant with respect to the trial court's determination that the Hunt's acted arbitrarily, vexatiously or not in good faith pursuant to RCW 23B.13.310:

- Sentinel C3 commenced this action in Spokane County Superior
 Court on January 31, 2011, seeking a determination of fair value for the
 Hunts' shares. CP 1-187. The Hunts filed their Answer on April 7, 2011.
 CP 198-207.
- On May 6, 2011 the parties appeared before the trial court at a mandatory status conference and the trial court issued a Civil Case Schedule Order setting a February 27, 2012 trial date for the matter. The Scheduling Order also set other discovery and pre-trial deadlines. CP 208; LAR 0.4.1(d).
- The parties also commenced and engaged in discovery. Sentinel
 C3 served the Hunts with initial discovery requests and the Hunts made

their responses on April 1, 2011. CP 322, 347-357. The Hunts, in turn, served their initial discovery requests to Sentinel C3 on May 17, 2011 and received Sentinel C3's responses on June 17, 2011. CP 322, 359-378.

- Unfortunately, Sentinel C3 objected and declined to provide answers and/or documents in response to several of the Hunts' discovery requests. CP 359-378. These and other discovery issues were discussed between counsel for Sentinel C3 and the Hunts on June 15, 2011. CP 359, 427-428.
- Based on the June 15, 2011 discussion and subsequent discussions, on July 5, 2011 Sentinel C3 finally supplemented three of its prior discovery responses and produced a small portion (335 pages) of the total documents sought by the Hunts' discovery requests. CP 380-386. This was in addition to the 830 pages previously produced and constituted approximately one fifth (1/5) of the total business records that would eventually be produced by Sentinel C3 in response to the Hunts' discovery requests. CP 322.
- However, Sentinel C3 continued to insist on entry of a protective order before producing the bulk of relevant business and other documents requested by the Hunts in their discovery requests. Eventually, all of the parties were able to stipulate to a protective order. CP 209-225.

- Sentinel C3 submitted the stipulated protective order for entry by the Court on August 5, 2011. CP 214-225. In anticipation of the protective order being signed, Sentinel C3 finally produced over 4,000 pages of requested business documents on August 8, 2011. CP 322.
- The next day, August 9, 2011, Sentinel C3 filed its motion for summary judgment. CP 452-454. The motion sought two items of relief. First, it asked the trial court to determine that the VER valuation provided by Mr. Kukull in April of 2010 was the fair value for the shares under RCW 23B.13.300 because the Hunts had no basis for and no expert valuation to support their own estimate and demand for their shares. CP 444-448. Second, it asked the trial court to find that the Hunts had acted arbitrarily, vexatiously, or in bad faith and award Sentinel C3 its attorney fees and costs under RCW 23B.13.310 again, because the Hunts did not have a basis for their estimate or expert valuation yet. CP 448-450.
- When Sentinel C3 filed its motion on August 9, 2011, the Scheduling Order provided the Hunts another two months until October 10, 2011 to retain and disclose their valuation expert, and another two months after that until the December 9, 2011 discovery deadline. CP 208. Trial was over six months away, in February of 2012. CP 208.

- In addition, under the terms of the protective order the Hunts could not share or provide to their valuation expert any of the over 5,000 pages of business documents or the discovery responses they had received from Sentinel C3 until after the protective order was signed. CP 473 (¶ 5).
- Unfortunately, after Sentinel C3's motion was filed the trial court notified the parties that it could not enter the protective order as presented and a hearing regarding the protective order was held on August 17, 2011. CP 458. The protective order was finally resubmitted to the Court on September 2, 2011 and signed by the court on September 7, 2011. CP 458-480. Only then could the Hunts provide the documents produced by Sentinel C3 to their valuation expert, per the terms of the protective order. CP 473, ¶ 5.
- On September 26, 2011 the Hunts supplemented their original discovery responses to identify their valuation expert Jerry Hecker, CPA, CVA. CP 764-761. The Hunts' Response opposing Sentinel C3's summary judgment motion was timely filed that day as well and included their supplemental discovery responses, verifying they had a valuation expert. CP 481, 496-502, 764-771.
- Mr. Hecker performed and completed his valuation report by
 October 5, 2011 less than a month after the protective order was finally

entered and the Hunts could finally provide Sentinel C3's business records to Mr. Hecker. CP 600. Mr. Hecker's valuation report was provided to Sentinel C3 on October 13, 2011 and a copy was also filed with the trial court for the record on the upcoming summary judgment hearing. CP 597-598.

- Sentinel C3's Reply in support of its summary judgment motion also acknowledged and discussed the existence of Mr. Hecker's valuation report. CP 584. However, despite the existence now of two competing valuation experts and three competing fair values for the shares, including the Hunts original estimate Sentinel C3 went forward with its arguments on summary judgment.
- The summary judgment motion was argued before the trial judge on Friday, October 21, 2011. CP 673. The trial judge ruled from the bench, granting Sentinel C3's motion in its entirety. CP 673; 10/21/11¹ VRP 30:25-31:4. An Order was entered on November 8, 2011. CP 677-678.
- The Hunts timely moved for reconsideration on November 18,
 2011. CP 793-795. After the briefing was completed, the trial court issued

There were two separate hearings in this matter – one on the summary judgment and one on the attorney fees Judgment – and thus two verbatim reports of proceeding prepared. They are referred to in the brief by the date of the hearing, to distinguish between the two.

an Order on Reconsideration on January 6, 2012 and denied the motion for reconsideration. CP 879-880. The Hunts timely filed their Notice of Appeal on January 19, 2012. CP 881-888.

- Meanwhile, Counsel for Sentinel C3 filed a Notice of Presentment and proposed Judgment on the attorney fees and costs award. CP 898-903.
 The Hunts filed an objection and response to the proposed judgment, and moved on an emergency motion for a stay pending the appeal. CP 937-952.
- On February 1, 2012 the trial court issued a letter decision advising that it was taking the Proposed Judgment under advisement pending completion of the appellate process. CP 897.
- Fifteen days later, on February 16, 2012, Sentinel C3 untimely sought reconsideration of the trial court's February 1, 2012 letter decision asking that either the Proposed Judgment be entered, or that the trial court set a bond. CP 1024-1025. The Hunts objected to both the untimely motion and to the substantive request therein. CP 1046-1057.
- The matter came on for hearing before the trial court on Friday, March 30, 2012. CP 1076. The trial court granted Sentinel C3's motion to enter Judgment, but reserved entry of the Judgment itself to determine the amount. 3/30/12 VRP 27:21-25; 29:2-10. The Judgment on fees and costs

was entered by the trial court on April 5, 2012. CP 1077. The Judgment failed to include the method by which the amounts had been calculated and or any indication that the court had determined the award was reasonable and equitable, as required by case law and RCW 23B.13.310. CP 1077-1079. Thus, the Hunts timely appealed the Judgment as well. CP 1080-1085.

The Hunts now seek review of both the Order granting Sentinel C3's motion for summary judgment and the Judgment itself. Based on the extensive disputed facts before the trial court, summary judgment was inappropriate and thus the Order and resulting Judgment should be reversed on appeal.

V. LEGAL ARGUMENT

Sentinel C3's motion for summary judgment should have been denied because Sentinel C3 failed to establish that there were no disputed material facts regarding what constituted "fair value" for the Hunts' shares and the trial court itself was prohibited under the controlling law from determining fair value on summary judgment – which it essentially did by granting the motion. Thus, summary judgment was inappropriate and the trial court's Order should be reversed on appeal.

If this decision by the trial court granting summary judgment is reversed, then the subsequent and dependent decision awarding attorney fees under RCW 23B.13.310 and entering Judgment thereon must also be reversed. Specifically, RCW 23B.13.310 only charges the court to determine all costs and fees "of the proceeding" once the proceeding is completed – and if summary judgment is reversed and the case remanded, then the proceeding will proceed.

It is only if the summary judgment as to fair value is upheld – and thus the case is over – that the award and Judgment on attorney fees will need to be reviewed separately.

Thus, the grant of summary judgment will be addressed first and the dependent award and Judgment of attorney fees will be addressed – including recitation of the applicable standard of review – separately and in the alternative.

A. SUMMARY JUDGMENT STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Court of Appeals reviews a summary judgment order de novo, performing the same inquiry as the trial court and considering the facts and reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. <u>Jones v. Allstate Ins. Co.</u>, 146 Wn.2d 291, 300, 45 P.3d 1068

(2002); <u>Fitzpatrick v. Okanogan Cy</u>, 169 Wn.2d 598, 605, 238 P.3d 1129 (2010).

"The object and function of the summary judgment procedure is to avoid a useless trial; however, a trial is not useless, but is absolutely necessary where there is a genuine issue as to any material fact." <u>Balise v. Underwood</u>, 62 Wn.2d 195, 199, 381 P.2d 966 (1963) (citing <u>Preston v. Duncan</u>, 55 Wn.2d 678, 349 P.2d 605 (1960)); <u>quoted in Lamon v. McDonnell Douglas Corp.</u>, 91 Wn.2d 345, 349, 588 P.2d 1346 (1979). Thus, summary judgment "must be employed with caution lest worthwhile causes perish short of a determination of their true merit." <u>Smith v. Acme Paving</u>, 16 Wn. App. 389, 392, 558 P.2d 811 (1976).

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