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

unlike Kukull's opinions, their expert's opinions as to value were not 

sworn as true. Appellants' own unqualified lay opinions as to share 

value - unsupported by any evidence in the record - were simply 

insufficient to raise a genuine issue of fact as to value in the face of 

Kukull's detailed, reasoned expert report - attested by him to be true. 

Therefore, Appellants left the trial court with no choice but to 

grant Sentinel's summary judgment motion, determining fair value to 

be the amount set out in Sentinel's expert report and also awarding 

reasonable costs and attorneys' fees . 

Now, Appellants hope this Court will save them from their 

failure to provide admissible evidence of fair value. But even in a 

dissenters' rights action, the law does not protect a party that refuses 

to submit admissible evidence to raise a genuine issue of material fact 

at summary judgment. Appellants' failure to do so justifies the 

court's entry of summary judgment in Sentinel's favor. 

II. STA TEMENT OF THE CASE 

This matter is a petition for appraisal of shares Sentinel 

acquired from Appellants as part of a reverse stock split, a proceeding 

governed by Washington's dissenters' rights statute, RCW 

23B.13 .01O, et seq. The underlying facts in this case follow the 

procedure set out in this statute. 
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A. Sentinel followed the procedure set out in RCW 238.13, 
but Appellants rejected Sentinel's valuation of their 
shares. 

Appellants are former shareholders of Sentinel: Chris Hunt 

held 1,000,000 common shares and Michael Blood held 250,000 

shares. CP 4, 198-99, 188-92. 1 

On October 6, 2010, Sentinel notified its shareholders-

including Appellants--of a special meeting to perform a reverse stock 

split and purchase fractional shares. CP 6, 188-92, 199. This 

notification included a notices of dissenters' rights per RCW 

238.13.200. CP 6, 26, 28-32, 188-92,200. 

On October 28, 2010, a shareholders meeting was held to 

consider the proposed amendment. Although Appellants voted 

against the reverse stock split, it passed. CP 6, 26-32, 188-92, 200. 

On or around October 28, 2010, Sentinel sent Appellants 

another notice of dissenters' rights per RCW 23B.13.220. CP 6, 8, 

34-45, 64-75, 188-92, 200. In response, Appellants provided Sentinel 

with demands for payment. CP 7, 47-48, 77-78, 198-92, 200. 

Sentinel made payment to Appellant Hunt of $195,790.92 on 

December 1, 2010. CP 7, 50-59, 200. Sentinel made payment to 

Appellant Blood of$48,956.60 on December 3, 2010. CP 7-8, 80-89. 

1 Hunts' and Bloods' marital communities were named as respondents to Sentinel's 
Petition. CP 3. References to Appellants Hunts' Answer (CP 198-207) demonstrate 
Hunts admissions to pertinent facts alleged in the Petition. Appellants Bloods' 
Answer does not specifically deny the allegations of Sentinel's Petition and, under 
CR 8{d), failure to deny is an admission . See generally CP \88-92. 
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Sentinel based the amount of these payments on an expert 

appraisal of $0.1952 per share provided by James Kukull, CPA, ASA, 

ABV, a business valuation expert, along with payment for interest as 

provided by RCW 23B.13.250. Sentinel provided Mr. Kukull's 

appraisal report, including supporting documentation, to Appellants. 

2 CP 7-8,10,97-184, 186-87,203. 

Appellants disagreed with Sentinel's fair value determination. 

In a December 27, 2010 letter, Appellant Hunt argued that the per 

share fair value for his Sentinel shares was $0.51204 - thus 

demanding payment of more than double Sentinel's valuation. CP 7, 

61-62, 201. In a separate letter delivered to Sentinel on February 2, 

2011, Appellant Blood argued that the per share value for his Sentinel 

shares was $0.6443 - thus demanding payment of more than triple 

Sentinel's valuation. CP 322, 327-30, 332-45. 

The varying estimates resulted in wildly different valuations 

of Appellants' total shares in Sentinel. Sentinel determined the fair 

value of Appellant Hunt's shares to total $195,200, but Hunt argued 

the value of his shares totaled $512,040. CP 50-62. Sentinel 

determined the fair value of Blood's shares to total $48,956.60, but 

Blood argued that the value of his shares totaled $161,075. CP 80-89, 

327-30. 

2 Mr. Kukull submitted an affidavit at summary judgment attaching both his report 
and correspondence he sent to Sentinel on January 17, 20 II confirming that the 
valuation in his report was valid as of October 31,20 I O. CP 226-320 
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Appellants claimed to rely on an undisclosed professional fair 

valuation opinion to support their estimates. CP 61-62, 327-30. 

Oddly, while Hunt's and Blood's estimates of the per share value vary 

widely from each other, they are purportedly based on this same 

alleged professional opinion, which each Appellant then inflated for 

different reasons to arrive at their respective estimates. Id. 

Appellants, however, refused to produce the alleged professional 

opinion in discovery and it was never introduced into evidence. CP 

334-36,349,352,481-95,574-78; 10/2112011 VRP 3:20-25 . 

On January 31, 2011, Sentinel filed its Petition for 

Determination of Fair Value of Shares of Dissenting Shareholder 

("Petition"). CP 3. Filing the Petition was legally required to avoid 

paying Appellants' inflated demands. RCW 23B.13.300(1).3 As 

Appellants concede, the only issue to be decided in a dissenters' 

rights action is fair value. Hunt Br., p. 21. There is no "fault" to 

apportion (id.), so coloring the corporation's conduct with moral 

undertones is both irrelevant and inappropriate.4 

3 Importantly, Sentinel complied with all statutory requirements with regard to 
dissenter's rights proscribed in RCW 23B.13 .010 et. seq. and Appellants do not 
contend otherwise. See generally Brief of Appellants Hunt (hereafter "Hunt. Br."), 
which Appellants Bloods joined for purposes of this appeal. Bloods' Notice of 
Joinder, Oct. 22, 2012. The only issue in the proceeding below was the fair value of 
Sentinel's shares. Hunt. Br., p. 21. 

4 See Sound Infiniti. Inc. v. Snyder, 169 Wn.2d 199,209-10,237 P.3d 241 (2010) 
(appraisal proceeding is the "exclusive remedy" for dissenting shareholders who are 
squeezed out of a corporation; "Washington clearly does not consider a reverse 
stock split to be an inherently fraudulent transaction. "). 
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B. Sentinel moved for summary judgment and the court held 
that Appellants failed to raise a genuine issue of material 
fact. 

On August 9, 2011, Sentinel moved for summary judgment. 

CP 452-54. Sentinel's summary judgment motion was predicated on 

a stark contrast in the parties' production of evidence. Despite the 

passage of nearly a year since Appellants made their inflated counter

demands, and despite months of discovery and Sentinel's production 

of over 5,000 documents, Appellants had offered no evidence of fair 

value. CP 322, 334-36, 349, 352; CP 442-43, 565. In contrast, 

Sentinel had offered an affidavit by its expert, James Kukull, 

attaching his detailed 87-page expert report and his supplemental 

report confirming the validity of his valuation as of October 31, 2010 

(the time of the reverse stock split). CP 226-320; RCW 23B.13.010(3) 

(fair value determined at time of corporate action at issue). Notably, 

Mr. Kukull's affidavit attested under penalty of perjury that his 

opinions were true and correct. CP 226-28. 

On September 29, 2011, the parties stipulated to a two-week 

continuance of the summary judgment hearing "to allow time for 

additional discovery." CP 565-566. 

On October 18, 2011, after Sentinel had filed its motion and 

just three days before the continued summary judgment hearing, 

Appellants filed a new fair value report prepared by Jerry Hecker 

("Hecker Report"). CP 597-672. Rather than being attached to a 
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declaration by Hecker, the Hecker Report was attached to a 

declaration by Appellants' counsel. CP 597-98. Unlike Kukull's 

affidavit, counsel's declaration did not address, much less affirm, the 

veracity or accuracy of the opinions contained in Hecker's report. Id. 

Sentinel objected to the admissibility of the Hecker Report in its reply 

brief. CP 588, n. 2. 5 

On October 21, 2011, the court heard argument on Sentinel's 

summary judgment motion. CP 569-73. At that time, Appellants 

expressly waived their request for a continuance under CR 56(f) for 

further discovery. 10/21/2011 VRP 4:6-4:25. During the hearing, 

Sentinel again pointed out that, because the Hecker Report was not 

sworn as true by Mr. Hecker, it was hearsay and inadmissible to rebut 

the sworn Kukull Report. 10/21/2011 VRP 25:10-34. 

The trial court grasped this fundamental but critical distinction 

between the parties' expert evidence. In response to questioning by 

the trial court, Appellants conceded that for the Hecker Report to be 

considered by the court, "[i]t would have to be admissible" and to be 

admissible for the purposes of summary judgment, the report must 

have been "in the form of a sworn report, a sworn opinion of an 

expert." 10/2112011 VRP 16:18-20, 17:10-14. Appellants also 

5 Although Sentinel had received Hecker's report on October 13,2012, Appellants 
had not offered the Hecker report into evidence as of the time Sentinel filed its reply 
brief on October 17, 20 I I and the time for briefing had closed. 10/21120 II VRP 
26: 16-22. 
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conceded that the Hecker Report was "not sworn." 1 0/21 120 11 VRP 

17:6-9. When Appellants attempted to fall back on the argument that 

the discovery deadline had not yet passed, the trial court succinctly 

reminded Appellants that they had just waived further discovery for 

the purposes of the motion, stating, "today was the day of reckoning." 

10121/2011 VRP 18:9-22. 

The trial court reasoned that the only evidence submitted that 

might have created a genuine issue of fact was the Hecker Report, but 

only if it had been supported by a declaration from Hecker swearing 

to the truth of his opinions. 10/21/2011 VRP 28:24-29:7. Because, as 

Appellants conceded, only Hecker could swear to the truth of his 

opinions, the report was not admissible in evidence to refute 

Sentinel's expert evidence as to share value. 10/21/2011 VRP 28:24-

29:24. 

Without admissible expert testimony from Appellants, all that 

remained to refute Kukull's valuation was 1) Chris Hunt's affidavit 

setting forth his beliefs as to why Kukull's valuation was allegedly 

incorrect and 2) Blood's arguments about the share value in his 

response brief - none of which were referenced, let alone supported 

by, any evidence in the record. CP 560-64, 574-78. Hunt and Blood 

both conceded they are not experts on stock valuation. 1012112011 

VRP 15:7-8,21:22-23:2. The trial court noted that Appellants' lay 

witness beliefs amounted to nothing more than argument, unsupported 
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by documented facts or by a witness qualified to render opinions on 

stock valuation. 10/21/2011 VRP 28:18-23; 30:8-12. To defeat 

summary judgment, Appellants needed to present more than 

argument; they had to provide the "umph supporting it." 1 0/2112011 

VRP 28: 18-23. 

The trial court further found it was "troublesome" that the 

parties' dispute over fair value had been pending for nearly a year, 

and that despite the ongoing dispute, a notice of summary judgment, 

and a continuance of the hearing, Appellants lacked reliable evidence 

in an admissible form sufficient to create an issue of fact. 10/2112011 

VRP 28:9-23. 

Noting Appellants' lack of admissible expert evidence on the 

issue of fair value, the court granted summary judgment in Sentinel's 

favor, determining fair value to be $0.1952 per share as established by 

Mr. Kukull and awarding Sentinel its reasonable attorneys' fees. 

10/2112011 VRP 16:11-17:9; 18:4-22; 19:11-16; 28:18-29:24; CP 

450,677-82. 

On November 18, 2011, Appellants filed a motion for 

reconsideration of the court's grant of summary judgment. CP 793-

95. On January 6, 2012, the court denied the motion for 

reconsideration. CP 879-80. 

Appellants' lack of admissible evidence as to fair value was 

not due to any improper delay or the vagaries of the schedule for 
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conducting discovery. Specifically, 1) Sentinel agreed to postpone 

the summary judgment hearing for two weeks to allow for additional 

discovery, 2) Appellants do not allege any impropriety or bad faith 

conduct by Sentinel in discovery, 3) the protective order entered in 

this matter was stipulated, and 4) despite their present complaints as 

to discovery delays, Appellants expressly waived their request to 

continue summary judgment under CR 56(f) at the hearing. CP 471-

80,569-73; 10/21/2011 VRP 4:6-4:25. 

On January 13,2012, Sentinel submitted a proposed judgment, 

supported by a declaration from its counsel, the parties then briefed 

the reasonableness of the requested attorneys' fee award, and on 

January 25, 2012, Sentinel submitted an amended proposed judgment 

for a total of $79,286.64 to account for additional accrued attorney's 

fees. CP 898-936-948, 981-83, 991-93, 997-1016. On February 1, 

2012, the trial court informed the parties that it was taking the 

proposed judgment under advisement pending completion of the 

appellate process. CP 1062. Sentinel then moved for entry of 

judgment, or alternatively to set bond pending appeal. CP 1024-26. 

During oral argument on March 30, 2012, the court granted that 

motion,6 and, on April 5, 2012, entered judgment for Sentinel, 

awarding it costs, expert fees, and attorneys' fees totaling $77,186.66. 

6 Appellants have not appealed the trial court's decision to grant Sentinel's motion 
for entry of judgment rather than deferring entry of judgment as the court had 
previously indicated its intention to do in its February I st letter. See CP 1080-88. 
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CP 1076-79. 

Appellants seek a wholesale reversal of their fortunes on 

appeal, contesting the entry of summary judgment for Sentinel and the 

judgment setting out Sentinel's attorneys' fees award. See generally 

Hunts Br. 

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. Whether, as a matter of law, a party that fails to furnish 

admissible evidence of fair value prior to issuance of an order 

granting summary judgment is nevertheless always entitled to a trial 

in an appraisal proceeding under RCW 23B.13.300. 

2. Whether evidence showing that there is a dispute between the 

parties and nothing more raises a genuine issue of material fact at 

summary judgment. 

3. Whether an expert report opining on fair value that is 

authenticated by an attorney's declaration-but the contents of which 

are not sworn to be true, correct, or accurate-may be considered 

evidence of fair value at summary judgment. 

4. Whether an expert report attached to the expert's affidavit

which also swears under oath that the opinions in the report as to fair 

value are true and correct-may be considered evidence of fair value 

at summary judgment. 

5. Whether the award of attorneys' fees is supported by the 

record when Appellants unreasonably and arbitrarily failed to support 
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their dissenting valuations with admissible evidence of fair value, 

even at summary judgment. 

6. Whether an attorneys' fee judgment that is based on the 

lodestar method and the reasonableness of which is supported by the 

record should be affirmed. 

IV. LEGAL ARGUMENT 

The lower court properly entered judgment against Appellants 

and awarded Sentinel attorneys' fees. Appellants argue that the court 

did not properly enter summary judgment because summary judgment 

cannot be entered in dissenters' rights actions as a matter of law, but 

this novel argument-improperly raised for the first time on appeal

is not only waived on appeal, but is baseless. As for the award of 

attorneys' fees, the record amply supports both the award of 

attorney's fees and the amount awarded. 

A. Appellants lose on the merits due to their failure to offer 
evidence raising a genuine issue of material fact regarding fair 
value. 

Appellants raise three arguments to show they should have 

defeated Sentinel's summary judgment motion, but each is 

unpersuasive. First, Appellants argue that summary judgment was 

improper because summary judgment should never be entered in an 

appraisal action like this one, but cite no legal authority for this 

sweeping, erroneous assertion. Second, Appellants argue that their 

own declarations, coupled with the fact that they retained an expert, 
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required denial of Sentinel's summary judgment, but this evidence 

fails to create a genuine issue of material fact as to Sentinel's fair 

value. Finally, they argue that Sentinel's expert report is inadmissible 

at summary judgment to determine fair value. But this argument, 

raised for the first time after entry of the summary judgment order, is 

waived, and, in any event, fundamentally misconstrues the interplay 

between authentication, hearsay, and CR 56. 

1. Summary judgment is an appropriate tool for 
appraisal actions like this dissenters' rights action. 

As Appellants correctly note, this is a dissenters' rights action,

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